






Plate 10 

Schooner Rachel A. Collins, G. H. Lollis, master, built at Lebanon and named for 
the wife of canner John S. Collins. The portrait was painted in 1874 by J. H. Bell 
and was loaned by N. Maxson Terry of Dover. 

Canning technology reached Delaware simultaneously with the Delaware Railroad; the two arrivals 

were undoubtedly related. However, many canneries also were sited along rivers, served by schooner and 

steamboat navigation. Water and rail transportation existed side by side, and served their respective 

communities with apparent success until both were supplanted by trucks within the past few decades. 
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Plate 11 

Steamer Avalon tied up at the Greenabaum Brothers cannery wharf in Seaford, 
from a postcard postmarked 1916, courtesy of Eleanor Jamison,of Seaford .. 

Each Delmarva cannery was a node in the Philadelphia or Baltimore trade network, funneling 

goods into those central places for distribution to the west and to world markets. With the opening of the 

Pennsylvania Railroad to Chicago, the Philadelphia hinterland was positioned to provide canned fruits and 

vegetables by rail to the growing populations of the arid west. Such firms as Heinz at Pittsburgh and 

Campbell near Philadelphia developed their present market share a century ago because of excellent 

transportation along this route. 

Although most of the canneries were locally owned (TABLE 2), outsiders from the Baltimore area 

owned a significant number, followed by a scattering of owners from other areas. The absentee owners 

were clustered along the Pennsylvania Railroad (Philadelphia, Baltimore, &Washington) line from the 

Susquehanna River to Baltimore, the center of the canning industry. 
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Plate 12 

Steamer Clio, of Odessa, tied up at Watkins' Cannery on the Appoquinimink. 
Husking of corn for canning is in progress in an open shed at left. From the 
Frances Finley Collection, Corbit-Calloway Memorial Library, Odessa. 

The wreck of the steamer Bertrand on the Missouri River in Nebraska Territory in 1865 has 

provided archreologists with a window on the westward canned-goods trade in its early stages. Cans 

included products from Fithian and Pogue, Bridgeton, New Jersey; P. C. Tomson, Philadelphia; Aldrich 

and Yerkes, Philadelphia; John Annier, Philadelphia; W. H. Thomas, Baltimore; Mitchell, Baltimore; and 

Preston and Merrill, Boston. Canned goods on the Bertrand included cranberry sauce, peaches, and even 

pineapple from sources in the Philadelphia and Baltimore trading regions (Rock 1987). 
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Plate 13 

Stetson and Ellison Plant #3, Houston, from a glass plate Holmes negative, 
courtesy Mr. and Mrs. Howard A. Sheppard, Dover.. The plant is oriented toward 
the railroad, with a large railside sign facing the trains. By the gate is a separate 
office, a common fire-protection measure found at other canneries including the 
one at Lebanon. 

A widely-held "axiom of indispensability" of railroads has been challenged in recent years by 

historians, but its existence was a driving force in nineteenth-century American society (Fogel 1963). Like 

other social myths, such as racial supremacy and divine right monarchy, the indispensability ofrailroads is 

itself a force in history, regardless of its truth. 

The New Jersey machinery connection 

Oberlin Smith established the Ferracute Machine Company of Bridgeton, New Jersey in 1863, as a 

general machine and casting shop. Within a few years, Ferracute was the principal maker of can-making 

machinery. The growing cannery center of Baltimore relied upon Ferracute presses, as did the canners of 

the Delmarva Peninsula. 
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Plate 14 

Four staff members of the H. P. Cannon cannery, Bridgeville, Delaware, lined 
up in front of their plant, along the railroad track. On the upstairs windowsill, 
probably the can shop, can be seen samples of their art. The buildings are 
entirely on piers or posts, which would leave little archffiological footprint. 

From the ledger (Table 4) it is obvious that Ferracute's machinery dominated the regional canning 

industry. The firm's "drawing ledger" or index of shop drawings, lists can dies made for the Farmers 

Fruit Preserving Company, for J. M. Chambers, and for Stetson and Ellison. Each Ferracute press is 

described in a "press card" still preserved at the company's plant in St. Louis. Original owners are listed, 

together with some later owners who bought parts or service for presses. Several Delaware canners are 

known to be represented in the press cards, but it was impossible to use them in this project; the author of 

the history of Ferracute, Arthur J. Cox of Bridgeton, has made notes of some, and informs the author that 

they reflect similar geographical connections to the ones identified in the ledger. 
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The largest Dover area customer was Richardson and Robbins; their Ferracute equipment included 

irregular dies; combination, bottom, hole, and cap dies; a beader; a blocking bolster; a power embossing 

press; and upright crimping machines. Considering his dependence upon Ferracute, it was not surprising 

that A. B. Richardson would help E. L. Jones, a young Ferracute mechanic, to set up his own machine 

works in Dover (PLATE 8, PAGE 26). 

Plate 15 

Little Creek Canning Company, 1899, courtesy of the Anold family. 

Community canneries of this size typically employed local women to prepare the product 
while the regular staff of men made and sealed the cans. The man at far left is holding a 
capping iron, indicating that this plant did not boast the most up-to-date canning equipment. 

First row, left to right: Louise Dillahay, Sarah Jane Smith, Annie Spencer, Lula Dare, Mrs. Ratledge, Sally Carrow, Isaac Short 
(born 1897), Mary Short (Isaac's mother). Second Row: Anna Mae Carter (Albert's sister), Ida Richardson, Elizabeth 
Richardson (Ida's mother), Frances Buckson, Lizzie Blocksom, Sophia Anold (born 1888), Sadie Wellington, May Blocksom, 
Ida Harrington. Third Row: Walter Pleasanton (holding capping iron), unknown person bending over, James Ratledge, Mr. 
White (foreman), John Seery, Fanny Muncy, unknown man in doorway, Mame Anderson, ... Clark, Viola Anold, Ella Ratledge, 
Sam Richardson (peering over shoulder), Lizzie Dillahay, Eddie Burris, Jennie Price, Albert Carter. 
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Factors in cannery site selection 

Popular perception for more than a century in Delaware has insisted that towns without railroads 

suffered a disadvantage. Smyrna, Camden, and Odessa, to name but three, are traditionally said to have 

declined because Clayton, Wyoming, and Middletown were the railroad towns and they were not. The 

facts differ. All six towns had canneries, and an six prospered during the cannery era in varying degrees 

that do not appear to be related to rail transportation. 

The railroad was a perceived advantage, more than an actual advantage, from a purely commercial 

point of view. In the end, perception won, and the rail towns appeared to be more alive and progressive, 

thereby attracting more progressive elements of the population. In each of these three cases, a legend 

arose, stating that the older town had rejected the railroad; in fact, Smyrna, Camden, and Odessa actually 

had campaigned to get the railroad but were bypassed because the engineers chose a more inland route to 

avoid bridging tidal streams. Smyrna, Camden, and Odessa depended primarily upon steamboat service, 

even though Smyrna and Odessa briefly had branch-line rail service as well 

Plate 16 

Stetson and Ellison's second cannery on Commerce Street in Camden, on the 
site now occupied by the firehouse. This pilant was built after the first plant on 
another site nearby was destroyed by fire. 
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Plate 21 

The cannery at Viola, above, was typical of the small seasonal plants that were common in Delaware. In the open 
shed at right was the scalding apparatus, consisting of two steel baskets that were lowered into hot water. Below is 
a view of typical preparations at Viola. Baskets are stacked on the ground and workmen are delivering empty cans 
to the loft, since the plant did not make its own cans. 

Plate 22 
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Plate 26 

Waste products of canning have been valuable as animal feed and for other purposes. This 
dump wagon full of tomato skins had just called at the J. Colby Smith cannery in Willow 
Grove, Delaware. Alfred Ford and his daughter Priscilla are on the wagon, and his 
stepdaughter Beatrice Bennett stands by. Cannery waste is still used as animal feed, 
sometimes on farms owned by canners. Can-making waste from Lebanon was used to fill 
holes in roads. 

E. L. Jones was born in Bridgeton, New Jersey, in 1853, at the beginning of the canning 

industry's growth period. He learned the machinist's trade at the Ferracute factory in Bridgeton, which 

manufactured can-makers' presses and other equipment for the canning trade. Under the sponsorship of 

Richardson and Robbins, he moved to Dover in 1881 and established a machine shop and foundry at the 

corner of North and New streets, near the location of the Dover Gas Light Company. The foundry and 

machine shop made "can makers tools, foot presses, dies, square shears, solder molds and cutters, 

forming rolls, solder blocks and coppers, springs, parts of dies, etc." (Delawarean August 13, 1881) The 

original partnership of Jones and Howell was dissolved and E. L. Jones and Company moved to a site on 

Forest Street (PLATE 8) where it operated almost as long as the cannery. 

Dover Gas Light Company, ancestor of the present Chesapeake Utilities Corporation, was 

established as a rosin gas plant in 1859 and purchased in 1867 by A. B. Richardson, who converted it to 

make coal gas. 
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Both Stetson and Ellison and the Lebanon cannery owned schooners before the Rising Sun 

cannery interests established a steamboat line between Lebanon and Philadelphia. Canneries supported the 

steamboats, which in turn played a role in their communities similar to the railroads' role among the inland 

communities. On the Murderkill the Frederica served that town's canneries and the Clio (PLATE 12) 

carried canned goods from Odessa to Philadelphia. Interlocking ownership of the steamers and canners 

meant that a community's fortunes were virtually dependent upon the fluctuating fortunes of a single 

business. 

Plate 27 

John S. Collins, about 1928 

Plate 28 

Capt. John C. Durborough 

Two pioneers of Kent County canning are shown in their natural surroundings. John S. 
Collins later developed Miami Beach, where he is shown in this picture near the end of his 
life. Captain John C. Durborough, a member of the Rising Sun firm, was also master of the 
Mary U. Githens. 
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